
FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER, AND CONSENT 

NO. 2017052330501 

TO: Department of Enforcement 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) 

RE: Triad Advisors, LLC (Respondent) 
Member Firm 
CRD No. 25803 

Pursuant to FINRA Rule 9216, Respondent Triad Advisors, LLC submits this Letter of 
Acceptance, Waiver, and Consent (AWC) for the purpose of proposing a settlement of the 
alleged rule violations described below. This AWC is submitted on the condition that, if 
accepted, FINRA will not bring any future actions against Respondent alleging violations based 
on the same factual findings described in this AWC.  

I. 

ACCEPTANCE AND CONSENT 

A. Respondent hereby accepts and consents, without admitting or denying the findings and
solely for the purposes of this proceeding and any other proceeding brought by or on
behalf of FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, prior to a hearing and without an
adjudication of any issue of law or fact, to the entry of the following findings by FINRA:

BACKGROUND 

Triad is headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, and has been a FINRA member since March 
1990. Triad conducts a general securities business. Triad is also a registered investment 
advisor (RIA) and a licensed insurance agency. Triad is wholly owned by another FINRA 
member firm and clears its transactions through another FINRA member firm on a fully 
disclosed basis. As of December 2020, Triad had 936 registered representatives in 357 
branch offices. 

OVERVIEW 

From June 3, 2015, through July 31, 2017, Triad failed to establish and maintain a 
reasonable supervisory system to achieve compliance with suitability requirements 
regarding switching and short-term trading of class A share mutual funds and failed to 
supervise such trading. As a result of the foregoing, Triad violated FINRA Rules $###" 

3110 and 2010. 

Additionally, from June 2015 through December 2017, Triad failed to establish, 
maintain, and enforce a reasonable supervisory system and Written Supervisory 
Procedures (WSPs) that were reasonably designed to identify possible inappropriate rates 
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of VA exchanges. As a result of the foregoing, Triad violated FINRA Rules 2330(d), 
3110 and 2010. 

Finally, from June 2015 through December 2017, Triad failed to timely file 19 Rule 4530 
disclosures in connection with customer-related arbitrations and written customer 
complaints. In addition, in six instances, Triad failed to timely update its registered 
representatives’ Uniform Application for Securities Industry Registration or Transfer 
Form (Form U4) to disclose reportable events. In ten instances, Triad failed to timely 
update Uniform Termination Notice for Securities Industry Registration Form (Form U5) 
to disclose reportable events. As a result of the foregoing, Triad violated FINRA By-
Laws, Article V, Sections 2 and 3 and FINRA Rules 4530(a)(1)(G), 4530(d), and 2010. 

FACTS AND VIOLATIVE CONDUCT 

This matter originated from FINRA’s 2017 cycle examination of Triad.  

Triad Failed to Establish and Maintain a Reasonable Supervisory System to 
Monitor Short-Term and Unsuitable Switching of A Share Mutual Funds. 

FINRA Rule 2111 states that a member or an associated person must have a reasonable 
basis to believe that a recommended transaction or investment strategy involving a 
security or securities is suitable for the customer, based on the information obtained 
through the reasonable diligence of the member or associated person to ascertain the 
customer’s investment profile. A customer’s investment profile includes, but is not 
limited to, the customer's age, other investments, financial situation and needs, tax status, 
investment objectives, investment experience, investment time horizon, liquidity needs, 
risk tolerance, and any other information the customer may disclose to the member or 
associated person in connection with such recommendation. 

FINRA Rule 3110 requires each FINRA member firm to establish, maintain, and enforce 
a supervisory system, including written procedures, to supervise the activities of each 
associated person that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable 
securities laws and regulations, and with applicable FINRA rules.  

Class A mutual fund shares typically include substantial upfront sales charges, known as 
“front-end loads.” They generally are suitable only as long-term investments and not 
short-term trading because an investor usually must hold the A share for a long period of 
time to account for the front-end load. Mutual fund “switching” occurs when a customer 
sells mutual fund shares and reinvests the proceeds in another mutual fund, often 
incurring additional charges and commissions. Frequent short-term purchases and sales 
of A shares and switching in a customer’s account may be unsuitable because of  the 
frequency of the transactions, the transaction costs incurred, or the customer’s financial 
situation, investment objectives and needs.  

Triad’s WSPs required a principal to conduct a weekly review of  transactions involving 
mutual fund switches and to obtain a switch letter signed by the customer. The WSPs also 
required the principal to evidence review of the switch by initialing the order 
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ticket/application and the blotter or daily transaction report. Triad failed to reasonably 
enforce its WSPs with respect to mutual fund switching. Triad relied on its automated 
surveillance system to identify mutual fund switches and on designated principals to 
obtain and review a signed switch letter from the customer detailing the rationale for the 
switch. The system, however, allowed designated principals to approve a transaction 
before the firm received the switch letter. In many cases, the firm did not receive switch 
letters until months after the transaction occurred, and in some instances, the firm never 
received a switch letter.  

Triad’s WSPs also required evidence of supervisory review by the designated principal 
initialing the ticket/application and the purchase or sales blotter. In many instances, the 
firm’s designated principals failed to review the transactions prior to execution. 
Specifically, in ten customers’ accounts where 182 trades were executed,  only 42 trades 
appeared on exception reports. No principal initialed the flagged trades or otherwise 
evidenced their review.    

As a result, from June 3, 2015, through July 31, 2017, a registered representative 
associated with Triad engaged in short-term, unsuitable purchases and sales and 
switching of A share mutual funds in 10 customer accounts, resulting in customer losses 
in nine of the accounts of $43,998.48. The customers’ accounts all indicated an 
investment objective of capital appreciation, preservation of capital, and/or income. The 
customers all had an intermediate or long-term time horizon. Nonetheless, all the 
accounts held A share mutual fund positions for 12 months or less. The firm approved 
many of the switch transactions prior to receiving a switch letter from the customer. In 
addition, Triad failed to follow up on red flags contained in the switch letters. The letters 
were all completed in the registered representative’s distinctive handwriting. Some of the 
letters, when received, were incomplete and others contained inaccurate information.  

Therefore, Triad violated FINRA Rules 2111, 3110 and 2010. 

Triad Failed to Establish, Maintain, and Enforce a Reasonable Supervisory System 
and WSPs to Monitor Variable Annuity Exchanges.

Variable annuities are complex products that permit customers to choose among a variety 
of contract features and options. Due to the complexity of variable annuities and the 
inherent risk of sales practice violations they present, FINRA requires that firms enhance 
their supervisory systems and provide comprehensive and targeted protection to investors 
who purchase or exchange these products. 

FINRA Rule 2330(d) states that a member must establish and maintain specific written 
supervisory procedures reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the standards set 
forth in the Rule. The member must: (1) implement surveillance procedures to determine 
if any of the member’s associated persons have rates of effecting deferred variable 
annuity exchanges that raise for review whether such rates of exchanges evidence 
conduct inconsistent with the applicable provisions of this Rule, other applicable FINRA 
rules, or the federal securities laws (inappropriate exchanges) and (2) have policies and 
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procedures reasonably designed to implement corrective measures to address 
inappropriate exchanges and the conduct of associated persons who engage in 
inappropriate exchanges.  

Failure to maintain and enforce an adequate supervisory system and WSPs to detect and 
prevent potential rule violations in connection with variable annuities is also a violation 
of FINRA Rules 3110 and 2010. 

From June 2015 through December 2017, Triad failed to establish, maintain, and enforce 
a supervisory system and WSPs reasonably designed to monitor patterns of variable 
annuity exchanges and to determine whether any registered representatives engaged in 
high rates of VA exchanges. Specifically, Triad’s WSPs failed to set forth any procedures 
for the review of or calculation of rates of VA exchanges. Instead, the firm relied on two 
designated principals to identify problematic rates of exchange without any exception 
reports or other tools. The only tool the principals had access to, the firm’s VA blotter, 
failed to distinguish between VA exchanges and replacements.  

From July 1, 2016, through June 30, 2017, Triad sold $743 million in VAs. These sales 
accounted for over 15 percent of Triad’s overall sales. Triad had 21,927 VA exchanges 
during this period, which accounted for $199.4 million of the $743 million. Because the 
firm’s blotter did not distinguish between exchanges and replacements from other 
variable annuity transactions, Triad was unable to monitor and reasonably supervise to 
determine whether there were any potentially inappropriate rates of exchange. 

Given the large volume of VA transactions, it was unreasonable to expect that the two 
designated principals could reasonably surveil all the VA applications for trends and rates 
of exchange among its registered representatives without access to accurate historical 
data, systematic surveillance tools, or guidance from Triad. As a result, Triad failed to 
identify patterns or trends in VA exchange transactions by its registered representatives. 

Therefore, Triad violated FINRA Rules 2330(d), 3110 and 2010. 

Triad Failed to Make Timely Disclosure Filings. 

Article V, Section 2(c) of FINRA’s By-Laws provides that every application for 
registration filed with FINRA shall be kept current at all times by supplementary 
amendments. Such amendment to the application shall be filed not later than 30 days 
after learning of the facts or circumstances giving rise to the amendment. 

Article V, Section 3(a) of FINRA’s By-Laws provides that following the termination of 
the association with a member of a person who is registered with it, such member shall, 
not later than 30 days after such termination, give notice of the termination of such 
association to FINRA. 

FINRA Rule 4530(a) states that each member shall promptly report to FINRA, not later 
than 30 days, after the member knows or should have known that the member or an 
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associated person of the member is a defendant or respondent in any securities or 
commodities-related civil litigation or arbitration, is a defendant or respondent in any 
financial-related insurance civil litigation or arbitration, or is the subject of any claim for 
damages by a customer for damages that has been disposed of by judgment, award or 
settlement for an amount exceeding $15,000. 

FINRA Rule 4530(d) states that each member shall report to FINRA statistical and 
summary information regarding written customer complaints in such detail as FINRA 
shall specify by the 15th day of the month following the calendar quarter in which 
customer complaints are received by the member. 

Violations of FINRA By-Laws, Article V, Sections 2 and 3 and FINRA Rules 4530(a) 
and (d) are also violations of FINRA Rule 2010. 

Between June 2015 and December 2017, Triad failed to timely file Rule 4530 disclosures 
in connection with 15 customer-related arbitrations that resulted in settlements greater 
than $25,000, as required by FINRA Rule 4530(a)(1)(G). Triad’s disclosures were, on 
average, over 600 days late and filed only after FINRA began its 2017 examination of the 
firm. 

Triad also failed to timely report four written customer complaints pursuant to FINRA 
Rule 4530(d). These complaints all related to one representative and revealed a pattern of 
misconduct by borrowing from customers away from the firm. Triad’s disclosures were 
an average of 232 days late. The firm settled all four complaints.  

In addition, Triad failed to timely update its registered representatives’ Uniform 
Application for Securities Industry Registration or Transfer Forms (Form U4) to disclose 
reportable events in six instances. These six instances related to arbitration filings and 
settlements involving firm registered representatives. On average, Triad reported these 
six instances 248 days late.  

Finally, Triad failed to timely update former registered representatives’ Uniform 
Termination Notice for Securities Industry Registration Forms (Form U5) to disclose 
reportable events in ten instances. In four of the ten instances, Triad failed to timely 
update two former representatives’ Forms U5 to disclose that they were subjects of 
arbitration claims. Triad’s disclosures were an average of 238.5 days late. In the 
remaining six instances, Triad failed to timely update the applicable Forms U5 where 
former registered representatives were the subject of arbitration settlements of more than 
$15,000.  

Therefore, Triad violated FINRA By-Laws, Article V, Sections 2 and 3 and FINRA 
Rules 4530(a), 4530(d) and 2010. 

B. Respondent also consents to the imposition of the following sanctions: 

" a censure; 
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" a $150,000 fine; and 

" restitution of $43,998.48 plus interest as described below. 

Respondent agrees to pay the monetary sanction upon notice that this AWC has been 
accepted and that such payment is due and payable. Respondent has submitted an 
Election of Payment form showing the method by which it proposes to pay the fine 
imposed. 

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim an inability to pay, now 
or at any time after the execution of this AWC, the monetary sanction imposed in this 
matter.  

Restitution is ordered to be paid to the customers listed on Attachment A to this AWC in 
the total amount of $43,998.48, plus interest at the rate set forth in Section 6621(a)(2) of 
the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2), from July 31, 2017, until the date this 
AWC is accepted by the National Adjudicatory Council (NAC).  

A registered principal on behalf of Respondent shall submit satisfactory proof of payment 
of restitution and prejudgment interest (separately specifying the date and amount of each 
paid to each customer listed on Attachment A) or of reasonable and documented efforts 
undertaken to effect restitution. Such proof shall be submitted by email to 
EnforcementNotice@FINRA.org from a work-related account of the registered principal 
of Respondent. The email must identify Respondent and the case number and include a 
copy of the check, money order, or other method of payment. This proof shall be 
provided by email to EnforcementNotice@FINRA.org no later than 120 days after the 
date of the notice of acceptance of the AWC. 

If for any reason Respondent cannot locate any customer identified in Attachment A after 
reasonable and documented efforts within 120 days after the date of the notice of 
acceptance of the AWC, or such additional period agreed to by FINRA in writing, 
Respondent shall forward any undistributed restitution and interest to the appropriate 
escheat, unclaimed property, or abandoned property fund for the state in which the 
customer is last known to have resided. Respondent shall provide satisfactory proof of 
such action to FINRA in the manner described above, within 14 calendar days of 
forwarding the undistributed restitution and interest to the appropriate state authority. 

The imposition of a restitution order or any other monetary sanction in this AWC, and the 
timing of such ordered payments, does not preclude customers from pursuing their own 
actions to obtain restitution or other remedies.  

Restitution payments to customers shall be preceded or accompanied by a letter, not 
unacceptable to FINRA, describing the reason for the payment and the fact that the 
payment is being made pursuant to a settlement with FINRA and as a term of this AWC. 

The sanctions imposed in this AWC shall be effective on a date set by FINRA.  
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II. 

WAIVER OF PROCEDURAL RIGHTS 

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives the following rights granted under FINRA’s 
Code of Procedure: 

A. To have a complaint issued specifying the allegations against it; 

B. To be notified of the complaint and have the opportunity to answer the allegations 
in writing; 

C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing panel, 
to have a written record of the hearing made, and to have a written decision 
issued; and 

D. To appeal any such decision to the NAC and then to the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission and a U.S. Court of Appeals. 

Further, Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim bias or prejudgment 
of the Chief Legal Officer, the NAC, or any member of the NAC, in connection with such 
person’s or body’s participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, 
or other consideration of this AWC, including its acceptance or rejection.  

Respondent further specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim that a person violated 
the ex parte prohibitions of FINRA Rule 9143 or the separation of functions prohibitions of 
FINRA Rule 9144, in connection with such person’s or body’s participation in discussions 
regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, or other consideration of this AWC, including 
its acceptance or rejection. 

III. 

OTHER MATTERS 

Respondent understands that: 

A. Submission of this AWC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and 
until it has been reviewed and accepted by the NAC, a Review Subcommittee of 
the NAC, or the Office of Disciplinary Affairs (ODA), pursuant to FINRA Rule 
9216; 

B. If this AWC is not accepted, its submission will not be used as evidence to prove 
any of the allegations against Respondent; and 

C. If accepted: 
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ATTACHMENT A 

Account Number Restitution Amount 

XXX-XXX599 $13,585.16 

XXX-XXX282 $5,520.32 

XXX-XXX142 $6,909.86 

XXX-XXX312 $5,015.55 

XXX-XXX805 $2,736.51 

XXX-XXX256 $4,715.01 

XXX-XXX317 $1,251.84 

XXX-XXX754 $1,783.94 

XXX-XXX272 $2,480.29 


